Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1966

Western Mortgage Loan Corporation v. Cottonwood Construction Company, a Corporation, et al. : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This intermediate appeal involves the relative priorities of mechanic's lienors upon, and of a future advance construction mortgagee to, Lot 10, Lazy Bar Subdivision, an improved residential subdivision lot in Salt Lake County.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Ten cases, including the "bellwether" (Civil No. 147326 below) in which this appeal is taken, involving twelve improved residential lots in Lazy Bar Subdivision in Salt Lake County were consolidated because of similarity of issues of fact and law. By its fifth supplemental pretrial order, the trial court made certain rulings, of which the following two are the subject of this intermediate appeal:

- 1. A ruling that the operative documents evidencing the mortgage transaction between Western Mortgage Loan Corporation and Cottonwood Construction Company provided for "obligatory" (or more properly, "non-volitional")¹ advances and that such advances, and the mortgagee's attorneys' fees and costs take priority as of the time of recordation of the mortgage. (R. 133, 134)
- 2. A denial of the mechanic's lienors' motion for partial summary judgment to the effect that certain work constituted the "commencement to do work or furnish materials on the ground for the structure or improvement" within the meaning of Utah Code Annotated 38-1-5 (1953). (R. 133, 134)

^{1.} The traditional phrasing of the point of law here involved is that, if advances made under a prior mortgage are contractually "obligatory", their priority none-the-less attaches as of the recordation of such mortgage, but that — if future advances are "optional" with the lender — the priority of each such advance attaches as of the date of the advance itself, Anno., 80 A.L.R. 2d 179, 191. Appellants consider, however, that certain case authority is more readily understood if the formula is couched in somewhat different terminology, as follows: if advances made under a prior mortgage are contractually "non-volitional" with the lender, their priority attaches as of the recordation of the mortgage, but — if future advances are entirely "volitional" with the lender — the priority of each such advance attaches as of the date of the advance itself. The point is that the question is whether or not the lender's sole discretion is involved to any such advance. For this reason, the "volitional" — "non-volitional" terminology is utilized more often than not herein.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek the following relief on intermediate appeal:

- 1. A determination that the construction financing transaction did not provide for obligatory (or, more properly, "non-volitional") advances but that, on the contrary, it provided for optional (or, more properly, "volitional") advances which take priority only as of the time of each such advance, or
- 2. Determination that, in any event, volitional expenditures made at the option of the mortgagee subsequent to the default of the borrower take priority only as of he time of each such expenditure.
- 3. Remand with instructions to grant the mechanic's lienors' motion for partial summary judgment to the effect that the work evidenced by affidavits in support of said motion constituted "commencement to do work or furnish materials on the ground for the structure or improvement" within the meaning of Utah Code Annotated 38-1-5 (1953), thus establishing the priority date for all mechanic's lien holders.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is an intermediate appeal from interlocutory rulings noted. Documents have been admitted in evidence. Depositions have been published. Admissions have been made by pleadings or otherwise. Certain facts have been developed by affidavits. No testimony yet has been presented personally to the trier of fact.

Some time prior to the beginning of 1960, probably the latter part of 1959, the owners of an unimproved tract of Salt Lake County realty decided to develop a residential subdivision thereon. They entered into a contract with Harrison & Moore, a partnership, which contract provided, in part, for sale of the land to the partnership for \$84,000 and further that the purchasers would develop a subdivision or subdivisions on the land, including platting of the land, installation of water mains, grading and surfacing of roads, installation of curb and gutter, and other improvements necessary under applicable ordinances. The agreement further provided for payment for individual lots and the building of homes thereon. The individual lots could be paid for by mortgages and notes subordinated to construction mortgages. It was contemplated that they would be paid out when the homes were sold. (R. 163-168)

Harrison & Moore, in turn, contracted with James A. Finnegan, Jr., and wife, in essentially the same terms but at slightly higher prices. In addition, part of the price to be paid by Finnegan was to go directly to the surveyor for work done. Finnegans, in turn, assigned their interest to Cottonwood Construction Company, a corporation, of which Finnegan was one of the principals. (R. 169-177)

Early in 1960 a subdivision plat was submitted to the county officials. It contained 55 lots, and was known as Lazy Bar subdivision. County approval was obtained in the latter part of 1960.

Commencing in the latter part of 1959 and going into approximately October of 1960, Charles V. King,

licensed engineer and surveyor, surveyed the land, platted it, placed visible stakes upon the ground marking the lots, including Lot 10, thus defining the intended subdivision development. (R. 69)

Following the surveying and platting, Lloyd Jackson and Rex L. Jackson, contractors, installed the roads, curb and gutter, sidewalks, water mains, sewer mains and sewer laterals throughout most of the subdivision, including Lot 10. The lateral sewer line installed on Lot 10 terminated inside the lot itself by some three feet, and in installing the sewer lateral the trench required for it extended into the lot inside the platted lot line approximately eleven feet. Installation of the sewer mains and laterals was completed about January 1, 1961. Water main installation was completed about August, 1962. Roads, curb and gutter were commenced in 1961 and completed in 1962. (R. 72-75)

Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph Company erected utility poles in the subdivision, including one on Lot 10. The installation included ground anchors and the stringing of telephone cables to serve Lot 10. (R. 80)

Following the foregoing work, short term future advance construction financing on several of the lots in the subdivision was obtained from plaintiff, Western Mortgage Loan Corporation (hereinafter designated Western), or United Savings and Loan Association, construction mortgagee in some of the companion cases. (R. 152, pages 5, 6, 11)

Application for future advance construction financing on Lot 10 was made to Western. Upon approval by

Western's loan committee, documents evidencing the transaction were prepared, dated all the same date, and executed by the parties. (R. 152, page 8) The five documents, dated October 29, 1962, used for the future advance construction financing of Lot 10 were:

- 1. Note.
- 2. Mortgage.
- 3. Building and Loan Agreement and Assignment of Account. (hereinafter designated Loan Agreement)
- 4. Release, Indemnity and Schedule A. (hereinafter designated Schedule A)
- 5. Pre-construction Affidavit. (All these documents are in R. 151, Exhibits W-2)

The note is in the face amount of \$15,750.00. It is secured by the mortgage which was recorded October 29, 1962, the date it bears.

The Loan Agreement specifically incorporates Schedule A.

Although the Loan Agreement provides that the net proceeds of the loan shall be deposited in a special non-interest bearing account, no such deposit was ever made. In fact there was no segregation of funds from the general funds of the lender and no funds were in fact committed thereto in advance by the lender. (R. 82-3)

Schedule A provides, as here pertinent, for the disbursement of funds to be in the discretion of the lender, contains provisions exculpating the lender from almost all liability otherwise usually incident to such a transaction, lists a schedule of fund advances but provides also that changes in this schedule of advancements "as to amounts and time of disbursement may be made at any time by the [lender] as it may, in its sole discretion, determine."

In the Pre-construction Affidavit, Finnegan and an associate stated that no work has been started and no materials furnished for Lot 10.

Of the five documents evidencing the transaction between the lender and the borrower, only the mortgage, which recites, contrary to the fact, that the full \$15,750.00 had been received by the borrower, was placed on record. The remaining four documents were not.

Western assigned its mortgage to First Security Bank of Utah, N.A. as security. First Security Bank of Utah, N.A. was brought into the case as an involuntary defendant.

As shown by its ledger, Western attributed advances to Lot 10 at frequent intervals from October 31, 1962, to January 24, 1963. (R. 151, Exhibit W-84) At about this time, Western, learning of purported misuse of funds by the borrowers principals, refused further advances to Cottonwood, thereby stopping work on Lot 10 and other lots. (R. 152, page 18; R. 2)

Paragraph 10 of the unrecorded Loan Agreement provided that upon default of the borrower, including work stoppage by the lender under the terms of the agreement, the lender could, at its option, (1) declare all sums advanced immediately due and payable and be released from all further obligations to the borrower, or (2) take possession of the premises, finish improvements and charge the costs thereof to the borrower to be secured by the note and mortgage. (R. 151, Exhibits W-2) These rights of the lender were cumulative and not to the prejudice of any other rights under its mortgage.

Although the lender was at this stage relieved of any obligation to advance further funds, it voluntarily and without benefit of a receiver, took possession of the premises and completed the improvements thereon, charging all expenditures, costs and various miscellaneous fees to the borrower. Then several months later it brought this suit to foreclose, claiming all advances, both before and after default to be secured by the mortgage and to take priority as of the recording of the mortgage. (R. 152, page 18; R. 151, Exhibits W-84)

Western had advanced \$9,462.04, according to its ledger sheet, at the time it caused stoppage of the work and exercised its option to enter the premises and take over the job. (R. 151, Exhibits W-84)

Liens for unpaid materials were filed by Oscar E. Chytraus Co. in the amount of \$665.38 (R. 40); by Gibbons & Reed Concrete Products Company in the amount of \$479.83 (R. 35); by Richard P. Garrick in the amount of \$283.46 (R. 45); and Boise Cascade Corporation in the amount of \$508.33 (R. 36); all for sums due for materials furnished prior to Western's exercise of its option.

Western's complaint prayed for \$14,312.64 and attorneys' fees and costs, (R. 1) up to the time of the

complaint. It also prayed for such additional sums as might have been expended by it subsequent to the complaint. Exhibit W-84 shows a total of \$16,435.47 attributed to Lot 10 as of January 8, 1965. Thus \$6,973.43 of the amount prayed for by Western, not including attorney's fees and costs attributable by it to this same expenditure, represents expenditures or charges made by Western subsequent to its exercise of its option to enter the premises and take over the project.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT CONSTRUCTION FINANCING ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN WESTERN MORTGAGE LOAN CORPORATION AND COTTONWOOD CONSTRUCTION COMPANY PROVIDED FOR NON-VOLITIONAL ADVANCES AND THAT ALL SUCH ADVANCES THEREFORE TOOK PRIORITY AS OF THE TIME OF RECORDATION OF THE MORTGAGE.

(A) INSTEAD, THE CONSTRUCTION FINANCING ARRANGEMENT PROVIDED FOR VOLITIONAL ADVANCES AND THUS EACH ADVANCE MADE THEREUNDER TAKES PRIORITY ONLY AS OF ITS DATE.

This point concerns a future advance construction financing arrangement, the express written terms of which are before the Court. We are not concerned with construction financing in general nor with the various other types of arrangements which might be used for construction financing.2 It may be appropriately here pointed out that no evidence was presented to the trial court, nor is any before this Court, to the effect that the written documents and their terms as here used are typical or atypical of the documents and terms used in the construction financing business. Moreover, no reported construction financing cases have been found dealing with the specific language under scrutiny in this Point.

The issue at hand is what the parties agreed to. What may have been desirable or ordinary in such an agreement is not germane except to the extent that the documents used might fairly accomplish such purpose by their own terms - not by Sunday morning quarterbacking.

Nor should it be assumed that the mere fact that construction was the purpose for which money was borrowed dictates by some innate legerdemain the legal consequences of the transaction, thus avoiding all recourse to the terms of the agreement between the parties.3

^{2.} See Appendix A.

3. The mortgagee evidenced below understandable enthusiasm for the obiter dictum in *Micele v. Falduti*, 101 N. J. Eq. 103, 137 Atl. 92 (1927) to the effect that "(a)ny building and loan mortgage advances are not optional" in that "the building and loan is bound to make the advances." Although the opinion does not enlighten as to the terms of the loan agreement therein, the opinion does not enlighten as to the terms of the loan agreement therein, if the New Jersey Court meant to suggest that advances agreed by the parties to be discretionary would be held non-discretionary if inserted in a construction loan agreement, it was far wide of the mark. See Gray v. Mc-Clellan, 214 Mass. 92, 100 N. E. 1093 (1913) and Elmendorf-Anthony Co. v. Dunn, 10 Wash. 2d 29, 116 P. 2d 253 (1941) for case decisions negativing this proposition. Also see Spradling, "Legal Hazards of Construction Lending," 19 Business Lawyer 221 (1963) and "The Open-End Mortgage — Future Advances. A Survey," 5 DePaul Law Review 76, 78 (1955) for scholarly articles which recognize that construction mortgage advances are not immune from the "volitional - non-volitional" rule. When read in context, in accord is Kratavil's chapter on "Mortgage Law" in the business text, in accord is Kratavil's chapter on "Mortgage Law" in the business school text, Pease and Kerwood, Mortgage Banking, (1965).

The primary rules of law in the area here concerned are well established. If a mortgagee is legally bound to make advances, the fact that such advances might occur subsequent in time to the recording of the mortgage does not alter the priority of such advances — absent other factors not here pertinent, such advances relate back to the time of the recording of the mortgage. The reason for this rule is sound. Where the lender is bound to make the advances, he is unable to exercise discretion and being so bound is a legal detriment to him just as though he had already parted with the money. In legal contemplation, he is simply making deferred payments.

Typical of the cases expressing this line of authority are: E. K. Wood Lumber Co. v. Mulholland, 118 Cal. App. 475, 5 P.2d 669 (1931), where the lender could not of its own volition refuse advances, the advances being tied to the progress of the work and an appraisal thereof; Lampson Lumber Co. v. Chiarelli, 100 Conn. 301, 123 Atl. 909, 912 (1924), where there was a positive obligation to sell supplies to a party for use in the construction of a certain building at current prices; and Boise Payette Lumber Co. v. Winward, 47 Idaho 485, 276 Pac. 971, 972 (1929), where the mortgagee was bound by his original agreement to make the advances specified.

The rule is otherwise where the lender may in its own discretion refuse any or all such advances. Thus, where the full amount of the purported loan is not paid over to the borrower, but under the terms of the agreement the lender may, at its own volitition, refuse to make future advances, any such advances take priority as to intervening liens only as of the time of each such dis-

bursement and do not relate back to the recordation of the mortgage.

Disregarding occasional, varied statutory modification, not obtaining in Utah, the above rule is universally applied to construction mortgages — as well as any other type of mortgage. Superior Lumber Co. v. National Bank of Commerce, 176 Ark. 300, 2 S.W.2d 1093 (1928); Community Lumber Co. v. California Publ. Co., 215 Cal. 274, 10 P.2d 60 (1932); Yost-Linn Lumber Co. v. Williams, 121 Cal. App. 571, 9 P.2d 324 (1932); W. P. Fuller & Co. v. McClure, 48 Cal. App. 2d 185, 191 Pac. 1027 (1920); Balch v. Chaffee, 73 Conn. 318, 47 Atl. 327 (1900); Boise Payette Lumber Co. v. Winward, 47 Idaho 485, 276 Pac. 971 (1929) (dictum); Gray v. Mc-Clellan, supra; Finlayson v. Crooks, 47 Minn. 74, 49 N.W. 398 (1891); Garey v. Rufus Lillard Co., 196 Okla. 421. 165 P.2d 344 (1945) (where the mortgage contained no provision requiring mortgagee to make advances, advances were held to be separate transactions inferior to intervening mechanics liens); Home Saving & Loan Association v. Sullivan, 140 Okla. 300, 284 Pac. 30 (1929). Heller v. Gate City Building and Loan Assn., 75 N.M. 596, 408 P.2d 753 (1965); Elmendorf-Anthony Co. v. Dunn, supra.4

In W. P. Fuller & Co., supra, all advances over a certain amount were at the discretion of the lender. His lien was held inferior to the liens of intervening mechanics' lien claimants as to the advances he was not obligated to make.

Although no Utah case squarely in point has been found, Utah Savings & Loan Association v. Mecham,

12 Utah 2d 335, 366 P.2d 598 (1961) is persuasive precedent for the proposition that this Court recognizes the foregoing rules and specifically that discretionary advances take priority only as of the time of each such advance. In *Mecham* there was no agreement concerning future advances, merely a mortgage regular on is face for a sum certain. Under this set of facts, it was held that the law implied an obligation consonant with the terms of the mortgage and that, if the mony had not been paid out, the lender was under an obligation to pay it out according to the instructions of the borrower.

This Court said:

"... A mortgagee, who is loaning money to a mortgagor-borrower, is obligated to pay out the money in accordance with the directions of the borrower. This is especially so where, as in the instant case, a sum certain is stated in the mortgage and no provisions are made for future advances." (Emphasis added)

The basis for the rule regarding the priority only as of its own date of any discretionary advance rests on sound legal principal. A mortgage is security for a debt. Where there is a binding obligation to make an advance it may be equated in law with an advance already made, but where there is no such binding obliga-

^{4.} The "volitional - non-volitional" rule is equally as applicable to (1) loan agreements secured by a mortgage for a stated sum which, in fact, secures future volitional advances up to that amount, as to (2) a loan transaction secured by an "open end" mortgage for a stated sum, in fact received by the mortgagor, plus open-end future advances. Gray v. McClellan, supra, involved the first type of arrangement. Far from restricting the "volitional non-volitional" rule to "open end" mortgages, a leading article on the subject, Blackburn, "Mortgages to Secure Future Advances," 21 Missouri Law Review 209, 213-215 (1956), lists the "open end" mortgage as merely one of four types of secured transactions in which that rule may come into play — another of which is the type of transaction involved in our case.

tion the analogy fails and without a debt there is no mortgage.

As a matter of fundamental fairness, no other conclusion is tenable. The law gives to a materialman or laborer improving property at the owner's instance the statutory right to look to the property for compensation therefor if need be, subject only to prior valid rights in the property. To make this right subject to subsequent, discretional advances of a lender would completely emasculate and nullify the legislatively established protection for the mechanic's lienor, for the lender could with impunity advance or refuse to advance as it chose, swallowing up, at its own volition, and for its own benefit, the protection intended the mechanic's lienors.

The documents evidencing the transaction between Western and Cottonwood demonstrate on their face that Western here was not under a binding legal obligation to make advances, but that such advances were completely within the sole discretion of Western and further that, since Western was not liable for failure to make advances, no legal requirement to make advances existed.

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