1966

Western Mortgage Loan Corporation v. Cottonwood Construction Company, a Corporation, et al. : Respondent's Brief

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

Hannula v. Hacienda Homes, 211 P. 2d 302, 19 A.L.R. 2d 1268 (Cal. 1949), provides a helpful example of the rule's application. Here the matter in issue was a restriction in a deed against the erection of a dwelling house "until the plans and specifications with the proposed site therefor have been . . . approved" by a named party. It was contended that the restriction was not binding because,

" . . . if the defendant has the right to determine that a portion of a lot, regardless of its size, is not suitable for a dwelling, then it could make the same determination with respect to an entire lot or group of lots."

The court however determined otherwise, stating that this "result would not follow . . . It is clear from what has been said that the defendant's action must be reasonable and taken in good faith."

At another point, the court rejected the contention,

" . . . that standing alone the restrictive covenant requiring approval of plans would leave the purchaser subject to the mere whim of the seller and would therefore be too indefinite to be enforced ignores the decisions cited which hold that the power to approve . . . must not be exercised capriciously or arbitrarily."

The application of this principle can be easily recognized where the language of construction loan agreements has been in issue. In *Weiss, Dreyfous & Seiferth, Inc v. Natchez Invest. Co.*, 140 So. 736 (Miss. 1932), e.g., the agreement contained the following provision :

"If the conditions set forth . . . above have been fulfilled, and evidence of such fulfillment has been furnished to the Trustee by written certificate of

(the architects), then . . . such payments shall be made directly to the contractor . . . provided, however, that the Trustee shall have the right, but shall be under no duty to do so, to *verify the correctness* of any such certificate, and to determine whether the aggregate amount of the balance due for work theretofore done thereunder exceeds the amount then remaining in said trust fund."

Clearly, no qualitative difference exists between the reservation of a right to verify that performance has been proper, and the right to use discretion in the first instance to determine if disbursement is proper. The court reached this conclusion:

"When these laborers' and materialmen's liens arose the laborers and materialmen had constructive notice that the owner of the building had executed a deed of trust thereon to secure the payment of money to be advanced for the purpose of paying for the labor and material therefore as the construction progressed . . . *the parties to that deed of trust contemplated that its lien should be paramount, and that the mortgagee had no option as to making such advances, but was irrevocably bound to do so.*" (emphasis supplied)

In *E. K. Wood Lumber Co. v. Mulholland*, 5 P. 2d 669 (Cal. App. 1931), a construction mortgage was also held to be one for obligatory advances, notwithstanding that the mortgagee through its representative obviously retained the right to disburse in its discretion, viz.:

"Appellants further contend that the trial court erred in granting priority to the deeds of trust, as the advances made thereunder were optional,

citing *W. P. Fuller & Co. v. McClure*, 191 Pac. 1027. The authority cited is not in point.¹¹ The loan of \$40,000 in the present case was agreed upon a typical building loan agreement providing that 'said sum of \$40,000 shall be advanced *in such sum or sums as your appraiser or representative shall recommend* as the work progresses and not otherwise." (emphasis supplied)

This conclusion was reached as to the nature of the agreement:

"The only option given was in the time and amount of each advancement during the progress of the work. In the case cited (*W. P. Fuller & Co.*) it was definitely agreed that the mortgage was in no way bound to make any advances other than the initial advance of \$1,600, the further advances were 'merely voluntary advances.'"

The facts of the instant transaction call for the same conclusion. The mortgagee did bind itself to disburse in accordance with the schedule set forth; however, it had a right to insist upon adequate performance as a condition of its obligation; if the performance failed to comply with the plans and specifications, on the basis of which the agreement was made, the schedule of payments would inevitably be subject to alteration. But, as noted in *E. K. Wood Lumber Co. v. Mulholland*, *supra*, an option as to time and amount of advances does not affect the obligatory nature of the promise; rather it is the undertaking to pay upon performance that is controlling.

11. It should be noted that the *W. P. Fuller Co.* decision, a case the court here found inapplicable to construction loans is one of the principal authorities relied upon by appellants. (See page 17, appellants' brief.)

This result conforms to established rules of construction as well. Notably, that "whenever possible a contract should be so construed that there are mutually binding promises on each party. *Ross v. Producers Mut. Ins. Co.*, 4 U. 2d 396, 295 P. 2d 345. And, perhaps most importantly, that in determining both the "meaning and legal effect of an agreement, the transaction should be considered as a whole." Corbin, Contracts § 549, *Caine v. Hagenbarth*, 37 U. 98, 106 Pac. 945 (1910)

Here the mortgagor wished to undertake certain construction for which a loan was required; the lender agreed to advance the funds under the terms of an agreement which contemplated disbursement at various stages of construction, the security of the lender overall being dependent upon completion of the structure in accordance with plans and specifications. Can it be argued that, given the terms of such an arrangement, it was intended one party should not be bound to perform even though performance by the other fully complied with the conditions of the agreement? It is certain the purpose of neither party would be served under such a construction of the terms, since both the lender's security and the borrower's hope of profit are wholly dependent upon timely completion of the building.

Caine v. Hagenbarth, 37 U. 98, 106 Pac. 945 (1910), states:

"Where one construction of a contract will make it unreasonable, unfair or unusual, and another construction equally consistent with the language thereof, will make it reasonable, fair and just, the latter construction will prevail."

Beyond question the appellants, by lifting phrases out of the context and referring them to dictionary definitions rather than to the purpose and meaning of the transaction as a whole, have endeavored to pin a wholly unjustified construction upon the loan agreement relative to its disbursement provisions. The agreement, when considered in light of the relationship of the parties, the purpose in entering into the arrangement and the goal sought to be achieved, clearly created mutually binding promises in accordance with its terms.

(B) THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN ACCORDING PRIORITY TO ADVANCES MADE BY RESPONDENT TO COMPLETE THE STRUCTURE FOLLOWING DEFAULT UNDER THE LOAN AGREEMENT. THE RIGHT OF COMPLETION WAS CONFERRED BY THE AGREEMENT AND SECURED BY THE PRIOR MORTGAGE TO THE SAME EXTENT AS OTHER PROVISIONS. ITS EXERCISE WAS REQUIRED TO PRESERVE THE INTERESTS OF ALL PARTIES.

At the date of abandonment of work on lot 10, the house was half completed. (See Appellants' Brief P. 26) The Court can fully appreciate the condition of residential property under these circumstances, it is believed, without further note.

Cottonwood Construction Company was obligated under the loan agreement to complete the structure in accordance with its terms. Respondent was accordingly bound to make progress payments. Upon the mortgagor's breach, Respondent was required to determine which

course of those provided for in the agreement it would follow. It could have proceeded with foreclosure. Instead, it chose to complete the structure, employing appellants among others for that purpose.

Appellants argue that by so doing the nature of the arrangement was thereby transformed so as to confer a priority on the lienors to the amounts expended after default, notwithstanding their subordinate position prior to that time.

In truth, the loan agreement and all its provisions, *including those which governed the rights of the parties upon breach*, were secured by the mortgage as fully as was the note. By proceeding to complete the house the mortgagee simply fulfilled the obligation of the mortgagor through exercise of a right plainly accorded by the loan agreement.

Appellants in contrast were not parties to the loan agreement, and it was clearly not executed for their benefit. Nor, it might be added, did appellants enter into the transaction with the purpose or even reasonable expectation of achieving priority. They would appear to have no valid concern therefore with the mortgagee's rights upon breach of the loan agreement.

This was recognized in *Hayward Lumber & Investment Co. v. Corbett*, Calif. 33 P. 2d 41, (1934) where a lien claimant whom the court specifically found to be subordinate to a prior construction mortgage questioned the lender's right to complete the structure following

abandonment by the mortgagor. The purpose was obviously to assert priority over amounts advanced after default. The court however ruled:

“In view of the obligation requiring the money to be set over for the particular purpose of constructing the building only, and by reason of the obligation on the part of the (mortgagor) to expeditiously proceed to completion, it may not be said that the respondent erroneously proceeded in the place of (the mortgagor) to complete the building, using only such money as was set over for that purpose by the (mortgagee) to (the mortgagor's) account. (The mortgagor) would have been powerless to have used the money in question for any other purpose but the construction of the building. *It may be that (the mortgagor) might question the (mortgagee's) right to proceed in his stead, but it does not follow from this that (lien claimant) also may raise this question.*” (emphasis supplied)

Bennett v. Worcester County National Bank, Mass., 213 N.E. 2d 254 (1966), is a recent illustration of the fact that courts today will not accept mechanical application of the theory proposed by appellants, but will consider the transaction realistically in light of attendant circumstances. In the *Bennett* case, a construction mortgagee completed a building following default by the mortgagor, and an unsuccessful attempt to sell the uncompleted structure on foreclosure. The construction loan agreement itself contained basically the same provisions as that in issue, viz.:

“In the event the contractor fails to complete the construction of the building within a reasonable

time, *Bank shall thereupon have the right but shall not be bound to take immediate possession of said premises and proceed to complete the building . . . and Bank is authorized to charge all money expended for said completion against any money not already advanced.*" (emphasis supplied)

At the time of default, some \$133,000 had been advanced under the construction loan agreement. The best offer received by mortgagee upon advertising the property in an uncompleted state was \$95,000. The mortgagee thereupon expended an additional \$60,000 to complete the structure and it was ultimately sold.

Plaintiffs were junior mortgagees who were clearly subordinate at the time of default under the construction mortgage. Their argument to achieve priority in the sums advanced for completion exactly parallels that of appellants here, viz:

"The plaintiffs contend that upon (the mortgagor's) breach by failure to complete the building the bank's obligation to advance money for the project ceased by the terms of the agreement, the bank becoming a "volunteer" as to any sums subsequently advanced and thereby not entitled to charge them against the foreclosure proceeds . . . Accordingly, the plaintiffs would limit the bank's recovery to the \$133,608.93 advanced up to the time of the breach."

The court denied plaintiffs' asserted priority, with the following observation on the merit of their theory:

"This argument ignores the fact that the bank expressly reserved the right to complete the building,

and that (the mortgagor's) *failure to complete violated a covenant, the performance of which was secured by the mortgage.*" (emphasis supplied)

The result in *Bennett* is a realistic appraisal of construction financing. The object and indeed sine qua non of the entire transaction is erection of the completed structure. The loan agreement is the vehicle adopted by the parties to accomplish this end, and its provisions, *including those governing rights upon breach*, are secured by the mortgage. An attempt to superimpose a formal theory of "optional advances" to reverse the priority contemplated by the parties the court rejected as incompatible with the real objectives of the transaction.

No contention is now made that appellants acted in other than full awareness of the purposes for which Respondent's mortgage was executed. They should not now be heard to assert a belated priority based on exercise of a right secured by that mortgage.

COMPLETION — ECONOMIC CONSIDERATIONS

It must finally be asked what real justification appellants propose for their claim to priority. For not even appellants, it would appear, are content with bald application of the optional advance concept.

Rather, the justification is said to be in the fact that at the time of breach the lender "was amply protected by the buffer afforded by the land value." And, in addition, that by "waiting and taking over the venture . . . the lender undertook to enhance its own position at the expense of already disadvantaged lienors."

This is patently incongruous. A half completed house is unquestionably less than half a loaf. It is not an adequate "buffer" for a construction mortgagee nor was it ever so intended; moreover, it would have provided no security whatever for the subordinate lien claimants. It has been aptly noted that,

"... until a building has been completed, its intrinsic value is greatly impaired. No one will buy a lawsuit or an uncompleted structure, except at a sizeable discount." (Shinehouse, *Real Estate Construction Loan — A Synopsis*, 33 Pa. Bar Ass'n Q. 63 (1961))

The lienors in this situation stood only to benefit from the mortgagee's willingness to undertake to complete the house.

It is well settled that advances made for the protection of the security of the mortgage are not optional but will be treated as obligatory advances entitled to the priority of the mortgage. This is true even though the mortgagee is under no obligation to make such advancements by the terms of the mortgage or otherwise. Included under this heading are advances for taxes, insurance, upkeep or repair, or for completion of the improvement.¹²

12. See generally 36 Am. Jur., *Mortgages* §§316-321; Osborne, *Mortgages* §120; *Crofts v. Johnson*, Utah, 313 P. 2d 808 (1957); *Columbia Trust Co. v. Farmer's & Merchant's Bank*, Utah, 22 P.2d 164 (1933). An interesting case in this connection is *Miller v. Ward*, 88 Atl. 400 (Maine 1931), where a mortgagee who had advanced funds for the erection of an improvement and had taken possession of the premises upon default of the mortgagor was held to have not only the right but "... the duty ... having taken possession ... with a house nearly finished but untenable ... to protect the interests of the mortgagor (by) the finishing of the house ... and thereby changing it from unproductive property to income producing property."

The same conclusion has been reached notwithstanding that the rights of a junior lienholder were involved. In *Logan-Moore Lumber Co. v. Bowersock*, 100 Kansas 328 (1917) 164 Pac. 156, the owner abandoned the construction of several houses under agreements which called for the expenditure of approximately \$2,300 for completion. At the time of abandonment, the improvements were estimated to be worth from \$500 to \$800. The mortgagee thereupon completed the buildings according to plans, with the exception of a few minor additions. His right to priority for all amounts expended (except only the additions just noted) was upheld over the claim of a lienholder who had furnished certain materials prior to the breach. Although the question was considered of whether the lienholder was barred by a waiver of lien executed sometime earlier, it is clear the court did not treat it as germane to the issue of priority for sums expended after breach. Rather, the matter of priority for these sums is considered on its own merits, and it is believed the court's conclusions are instructive as to the validity of the position taken by appellants here, viz.:

“... As (the mortgagor) had abandoned the property with the buildings incomplete and in such condition as to deteriorate rapidly, unless something were done to preserve them, it was natural and proper that (the mortgagee) should assume control and take steps to that end ... Here, before

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